2005

The State of Utah v. Calvin Moore : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 77-18a-1 and 78-2a-3(2)(e) (1953 as amended).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court violated Mr. Moore's constitutional right to procedural due process when it acknowledged his motion for a new trial based on claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, yet the same court still failed to provide him with substitute counsel to make such a motion or to present evidence on his behalf in a timely manner. Issues of constitutional interpretation are questions of law, which we review for correctness. *See State v. Maguire*, 1999 UT App 45, ¶ 5, 975 P.2d 476.
2. Whether the defendant's (trial) counsel was ineffective in advising his client that he was not entitled to another attorney because he already had been represented by other attorneys and in not informing the court about their potential conflict of interest. "To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, 'a defendant must show (1) that counsel's

performance was so deficient as to fall below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) that but for counsel's deficient performance there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different.'" Mvers v. State, 2004 UT 31, ¶ 20, 94 P.3d 211.

3. Did the trial court fail to make an appropriate inquiry into whether Mr. Moore should have received substitute counsel? "[A] trial court's failure to investigate a . . . timely substitution request [made by an indigent party with appointed counsel] is per se error." State v. Vessey, 967 P.2d 960, 962 (Utah App.1998). While the inquiry itself may be subject to an abuse of discretion standard, *see* State v. Pursifell, 746 P.2d 270, 272 (Utah App.1987), "the court's failure to sufficiently explore Appellant's complaints in this case leaves us without the information needed to evaluate whether [he] was entitled to substitute counsel either as a matter of sound discretion or as a matter of law." L.K. v. State, 48 P.3d 244, 2002 UT App 149.

The right to effective assistance of counsel is "so basic to a fair trial that [its] infraction can never be treated as harmless error." Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 489 (1978) (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 23 (1967)); State v. Velarde, 806 P.2d 1190, 1192 (Utah App.1991). "Because error in assessing whether a defendant may represent himself is structural, it can never be harmless." United States v. Peppers, 302 F.3d 120, 127-37 (3d Cir. 2002) (citing McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 177 (1984)).

4. Whether the defendant's (trial) counsel was ineffective in not appropriately investigating and securing alibi testimony or exculpatory evidence favorable to the defense. *See* above standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel

5. Whether the defendant's (trial) counsel should have objected to, or whether the trial court should have recognized the plain error of, jury instructions that allowed Mr. Moore to be convicted of both aggravated burglary and aggravated assault. "Whether one crime is a lesser included offense of another is a question of law reviewed for correctness." State v. Jaimez, 817 P.2d 822, 827 (Utah App. 1991); State v. Yates, 918 P.2d 136, 138 (Utah App. 1996); *cf.* State v. Daniels, 2002 UT 2, 40 P.3d 611, 617 ("[A] trial court's decision to use a jury instruction may be alleged to have impacted the defendant's right to a fair trial, and such a conclusion would be reviewed for correctness."); State v. Houskeeper, 2002 UT 118, ¶ 11, 62 P.3d 444 ("[w]hether a jury instruction correctly states the law presents a question of law which we review for correctness."); *see* above standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel; *see also* State v. Cruz, 2005 UT 45 ¶ 41 (To establish plain error, appellant must show "(I) [a] n error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the appellant, or phrased differently, our confidence in the verdict is undermined.").

PRESERVATION OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Moore’s attorney on appeal is different from Mr. Moore’s attorney at the trial court level. Appellate counsel now raises issues that prior defense counsel failed to address below or constitute plain error as a basis for this Court’s review of the matter(s).

RULES, STATUTES, AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The texts of the following relevant constitutional and statutory provisions are contained in this brief or Addendum A:

| | |
|-------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Utah Const. art. 1, § 7 | Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-402(3) |
| Utah R. App. P. 23B | Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103 (1)(b) |
| Utah R. Crim. P. 24 | Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-203 |
| Utah R. Evid 402 | Utah Code Ann. § 77-18a |
| Utah R. Evid 403 | Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) |
| Utah R. Evid. 802 | |

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State’s Information initially charged the Defendant with a number of counts although some of them were dismissed at the preliminary hearing. R 32-33. At the time of trial, held on November 23-24, 2005, the State’s Amended Information alleged Count I, Aggravated Burglary; Count II, Aggravated Assault (against Marcus Anderson); and Count III, Aggravated Assault (against Antionette Ragsdale Jones). R 247-48.

Following the trial, the jury returned a verdict of “Guilty” on Counts I and II, and “Not Guilty” on Count III. R 296-98.

On December 27, 2004, the trial court sentenced Mr. Moore “to an indeterminate term of not less than five years and which may be life in the Utah State Prison” on Count I, Aggravated Burglary, a 1st degree felony. R 314. The court also imposed a consecutive sentence “of not less than one year nor more than fifteen years” in prison on Count II, Aggravated Assault, a 2nd degree felony. R 314.

In a letter dated January 3, 2005 (and filed on January 5, 2005), Kevin Kurumada filed a Motion to Withdraw because “[t]he defendant desires to file a Motion for a new trial, based on ineffective assistance of counsel. Counsel requests that the Legal Defender’s Association [LDA] be appointed to represent the defendant until conflict counsel can be assigned.” R 316.

On January 6, 2005, the trial court allowed Mr. Kurumada to withdraw as counsel. However, the court failed to immediately appoint LDA or conflict counsel in a manner which would have allowed new counsel to timely file a Motion for a New Trial.

On January 21, 2005, Kent Hart entered an Appearance of Counsel to handle Mr. Moore’s appeal and later filed a motion to withdraw as counsel on April 22, 2005. Current appellate counsel filed his appearance of counsel on April 29, 2005.

Current counsel then filed a Rule 23B Motion to remand for supplementation of the record on appeal and entry of findings of fact. In the alternative, counsel also moved for a remand pursuant to a procedural due process violation. The

State opposed appellant's motions on various grounds including the position that such claims should be addressed on appeal and fell outside the scope of a Rule 23B motion. The Court of Appeals denied appellant's Rule 23B motion and his alternative motion for remand.

The State also moved to strike extra-record information from Appellant's opening brief. Mr. Moore replied in opposition to the State's motion. This Court granted the State's motion and ordered Appellant to resubmit an amended brief. Mr. Moore complied with this Court's Order. For the record, he maintains his previously stated objections.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At or around 1:15 a.m., on February 5, 2003, Calvin Moore was residing in his house when he "[g]ot into an argument with [his] wife because she ... assumed [he] was cheating when he wasn't." R 351, page 193. In an effort to let matters cool down, Calvin Moore called a friend to pick him up and to avoid further argument. The friend, Jenna West, drove Calvin to Tuan Jones' residence where he remained for the rest of the night. R 351, pages 193, 197. Calvin Moore testified about his whereabouts to the jury, but his trial attorney failed to buttress Calvin's alibi with any corroborative witnesses.

Trial counsel did not call any other defense witnesses who could have verified Calvin's activities or behaviors during the night in question. R 351, page 206. Instead, at trial defense counsel merely proffered a vague statement by Jenna West – a recollection so nebulous that the prosecution stipulated to its admissibility.

The following evidentiary statement was read to the jury: “Jenna West is a friend of Calvin Moore. She has on occasion associated with the defendant. She recalls on one occasion she was called by the defendant sometime after midnight to pick him up because he had a fight with his wife. She does not remember the date or month but that it was in the winter time. She dropped him off several hours later.” R 351, page 207.

Noticeably absent from the statement, though, was evidence from Ms. West that the one time Calvin called Jenna to pick him up was “the only time I’ve been over there.” R 350, page 9.

The State attempted to ignore the defendant’s alibi by relying on witnesses whose inconsistent statements and ongoing drug use directly impacted their lack of credibility. Antionette Ragsdale Jones testified that she used cocaine “on my days off.” R 350, page 88. According to her skewed perspective, such drug use did not amount to “using it that much.” *Id.* Ms. Jones claimed that the defendant told her to open the door. She claimed that he entered her residence and hit her in the cheekbone and the eye with a gun. R 350, page 78. The jury, however, apparently did not credit her testimony. In response to the State’s allegation of Aggravated Assault, the jury returned a verdict of “Not Guilty” on the count involving Ms. Jones. R 298.

Defense counsel allowed the State to present other evidence, including Marcus Anderson’s testimony, in a relatively uncontested manner. During the preliminary hearing for this case, held on August 13, 2003, Mr. Anderson testified under oath that Mr. Moore “never asked you [Mr. Anderson] about the \$30[.]” R 346, page 39. Moreover, Mr.

Anderson acknowledged that the incident had nothing to do with owing \$30 for a drug deal. R 346, page 39.

Rather than filing a motion in limine to exclude such admittedly unstated and irrelevant testimony from the trial proceedings, defense counsel's inactions allowed the jury to consider such prejudicial evidence. With almost no investigation or evidence available for Mr. Moore's defense, the State was able to establish Counts I & II.

For the aggravated burglary charge, the State alleged that on or about February 5, 2003, defendant entered or remained unlawfully in the dwelling of Marcus Anderson and Antionette Ragsdale, that he did so intentionally or knowingly with the intent to commit an assault on any person, and caused bodily injury or used or threatened the immediate use of a dangerous weapon (a gun) against any person. R 285. For the aggravated assault charge involving Marcus Anderson, the State alleged that on the same date, defendant intentionally or knowingly assaulted Marcus and caused serious bodily injury. R 291. In short, the prosecution claimed that Calvin kicked open a door, hit Antionette in the face with a gun, and shot Marcus in the hand. The State further argued that the parties knew one another and that there was no mistake in the identification.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Moore's trial counsel failed to represent his client in a manner that would have protected his best interests. Counsel's errors were significant in stature and deprived the defendant of effective representation and a right to a fair trial. Counsel inexcusably procrastinated in his efforts to secure a key alibi witness and counsel

ineffectively failed to convey to the jury how the prosecution's witnesses harbored bias and motive against Mr. Moore. While the evidence showed that the State witnesses knew Mr. Moore, trial counsel neglected to present any reasons as to why those witnesses would falsely accuse him.

At times during the lower court proceedings the trial court either knew or should have known that much friction and tension existed between Mr. Moore and his defense counsel. However, the trial court overlooked its duty to at least inquire into their tumultuous relationship. When defense counsel finally disclosed that his client was alleging ineffective assistance of counsel claims against him, without requiring any further explanation the court immediately granted counsel's motion to withdraw.

The court's inactions towards Mr. Moore continued during the post-sentencing proceedings. Prior counsel had informed the court of Mr. Moore's desire to file a motion for a new trial, yet the court did nothing to allow that to happen. The court effectively precluded him from presenting evidence at a hearing on a motion for a new trial which could have then been part of the record for further arguments on appeal. The factual evidence that would have been considered on a motion for a new trial is much broader than the limited evidence allowed in a Rule 23B motion on appeal. The lower court's actions and inactions violated Mr. Moore's procedural due process rights.

The instructions used at trial improperly instructed the jury. The trial court either committed plain error in allowing the jury to consider them or defense counsel was ineffective in not objecting to them. Given the circumstances of Mr. Moore's case, he

should not have been convicted of both aggravated burglary and aggravated assault. In order to be convicted of aggravated burglary, he also had to commit aggravated assault and he should not have been convicted of each separate offense due to their impermissible overlapping nature.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT DEPRIVED MR. MOORE OF HIS RIGHT TO PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS WHEN IT FAILED TO TIMELY APPOINT SUBSTITUTE COUNSEL OR TO PROVIDE EVIDENCE IN A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

“Timely and adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way are the very heart of procedural fairness.” Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 P.2d 1207, 1211 (Utah 1983). “The purpose of due process is to prevent fundamental unfairness, and one of its essential elements is the *opportunity* to defend.” Provo City v. Werner, 810 P.2d 469, 472 (Utah App. 1991) (emphasis in original); Utah Const. art. I, § 7 (“No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.”).

As alluded to above, Mr. Moore’s motion for a new trial fell through the proverbial cracks. The lower court procedurally deprived him of his right to due process and the opportunity to inform the court of evidence that had been ignored or overlooked by his trial counsel.

On December 27, 2004, the trial court imposed Mr. Moore’s sentence. R 313-315. On January 5, 2005, Kevin Kurumada filed a Motion to Withdraw that read in pertinent part: “The defendant desires to file a Motion for a new trial, based on ineffective

assistance of counsel. Counsel requests that the Legal Defender's Association be appointed to represent the defendant until conflict counsel can be assigned." R 316.

The January 5th motion to withdraw was filed within the ten day period for filing a motion for a new trial. "A motion for a new trial shall be made within 10 days after imposition of sentence, or within such further time as the court may fix during the ten-day period." Utah R. Crim. P. 24.

Accompanying the Motion to Withdraw was an "Order to Withdraw", which said, "Based upon Motion of defense counsel and good cause appearing; IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that KEVIN J. KURUMADA be allowed to withdraw as counsel for defendant." R 318. The court signed the order on January 6, 2005, the last day of the ten day period "after imposition of sentence." Utah R. Crim. P. 24; R 318. The court, having found "good cause appearing," cannot disclaim knowing that "[t]he defendant desire[d] to file a Motion for a new trial, based on ineffective assistance of counsel." R 316

Notwithstanding such knowledge, however, nothing in the court's order allowed Mr. Moore to maintain his previously listed desire to file a motion for a new trial with substitute counsel. The court also failed to fix "such further time" for the motion. Utah R. Crim. P. 24. The end result is that the court deprived Mr. Moore of the ability to file a motion for a new trial.

Appellant Moore cannot be faulted. He raised the issue by communicating his desire to file a motion for a new trial within the ten day period after sentencing. Mr.

Kurumada, in turn, informed the trial court of Mr. Moore's desire within the ten day period after sentencing. The matter had been brought to the court's attention.

The unique glitch in this case, though, is that in Mr. Kurumada's motion for a new trial, he was not obligated to argue his own ineffectiveness. See Carter v. Galetka, 44 P.3d 626, 2001 UT 96 ("Counsel cannot be found ineffective for failing to raise an ineffectiveness of counsel issue against himself or herself.").

For the trial court, though, a more prudent action should have been followed. The trial court should not be able to both acknowledge that "[t]he defendant desires to file a Motion for a new trial" by granting Mr. Kurumada's motion to withdraw, R 316, 318, and, at the same time, to then preclude Mr. Moore from filing the desired motion by failing to enlarge the time for substitute counsel to do so.

By not acting appropriately within the ten day period after sentencing, the trial court deprived Mr. Moore of his motion for a new trial. At the very least, at the trial court level his ability to raise facts and circumstances in support of a motion for a new trial was not then as restricted as it is now at the appellate court level.

State v. Templin, 802 P.2d 182 (Utah 1991), is instructive on this point. There, after a jury convicted Templin, he fired his trial counsel and hired new counsel who claimed ineffective assistance of counsel in a motion for a new trial. *Id.* at 185. Newly hired counsel presented evidence during a hearing on the motion and established that prior counsel did not contact several people who were with the defendant and the alleged victim on the date in question.

However, “the judge concluded that failure to contact the prospective defense witnesses did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Furthermore, the trial judge concluded that even if the witnesses had been called, there was not a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different. The motion for a new trial was therefore denied.” *Templin*, 802 P.2d at 185.

Nevertheless, on appeal *Templin* was able to argue all the evidence presented during the hearing on a motion for a new trial. *Templin* was not limited by the evidentiary restrictions of a Rule 23B motion. The standards for presenting evidence are simply different and more accommodating with a motion for a new trial. *Compare* Utah R. Crim. P. 24 (the court may “grant a new trial in the interest of justice if there is any error or impropriety which had a substantial adverse effect upon the rights of a party”) *with* Utah R. App. P. 23B (limiting remand to “show the claimed deficient performance of the attorney”); *accord* *State v. Johnston*, 13 P.3d 175, 181, 2000 Utah App. 290. The trial court’s failure, here, to allow Mr. Moore to properly move for a new trial, *see infra* Point III, deprived him of procedural due process and the more appropriate way of presenting evidence omitted by prior counsel. Utah R. Crim. P. 24.

POINT II. DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN NOT RESPONDING APPROPRIATELY TO MR. MOORE’S REQUESTS FOR A SUBSTITUTION OF COUNSEL AND FOR NOT NOTIFYING THE COURT.

In deference to this Court’s Order striking extra-record information from

Appellant's opening brief, he notes the prior existence of Point II and proceeds to the next issue.

POINT III. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO ADHERE TO ITS DUTY OF INQUIRY

Once a defendant requests a substitution of counsel, the trial court has a duty to inquire into the legitimacy of the complaint. A summary denial of the defendant's request is improper. *See State v. Vessey*, 967 P.2d 960, 964 (Utah App. 1998) ("By summarily denying defendant's motion in this case, the trial court put the defendant in the position of choosing between proceeding to trial with counsel whom he believed was unprepared and incompatible or proceeding pro se."); *United States v. Jennings*, 945 F.2d 129 (6th Cir. 1991) .

In a letter filed with the court on August 24, 2004, Mr. Moore submitted his "Plea for Withdraw[al] of Counsel & Evidentiary Hearing". R 233. Since he felt his attorney was not protecting his rights, Mr. Moore requested a hearing on a number of matters including due process violations, discovery problems, and evidentiary issues. The trial court did not inquire about his letter, nor did it hold any hearings. The court either declined or neglected to ask about the letter and such inaction amounted to a summary denial. Remand is one remedy that would allow the court to fulfill its duty of inquiry:

Furthermore, a trial court's refusal to substitute counsel can only be properly reviewed if the trial court conducts a meaningful inquiry. Only the trial court can conduct a full evidentiary hearing to explore the substantiality of defendant's allegations without reference to subsequent developments and later-acquired knowledge. Such an inquiry is not clouded by the possibility that the defendant's claim may have been motivated simply by his conviction at trial. The pretrial

scrutiny not only reduces the likelihood of a post conviction ineffective assistance claim, but also creates a record that reviewing courts can rely upon when an ineffectiveness issue is raised on appeal.

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