2005

State of Utah v. Calvin Moore : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

R. 351:207.

Defendant claims his trial counsel was ineffective for not having West testify in person. Defendant does not acknowledge, however, that West was uncooperative and that she claimed she was not with defendant the night of the burglary and assault and did not want to perjure herself. R. 350:6-7. Nor does he acknowledge that his trial counsel went to great lengths to locate West and procure her testimony. A year before trial, the defense had located West and listed her name and address on a witness list. R. 118-21. Defense investigators spoke with her early in the case and she stated that she remembered picking defendant up one night after he had a fight with his wife, but she did not remember the date. R. 350:7-8. Trial counsel said he spoke with her a "couple of times" before trial. R. 350:8. The trial court rescheduled a trial date in June 2004 when West could not be located. R. 230. As the new trial date approached in November 2004, defense counsel was unable to locate West and became concerned that she was avoiding service of a subpoena by not answering

her door or telephone. R.243-46. In an effort to secure her attendance at trial, defense counsel obtained a material witness warrant for her arrest. R. 245. Immediately before trial, investigators for both the State and the defense attempted to locate West to arrange for her testimony. Finally, on the eve of trial, she was located in Florida where she was on an “extended family trip.” R. 350:6. She told the State’s investigator that she was unwilling to testify because she was not with defendant on the date in question and refused to take the stand and lie for him. R. 350:6-7.

Clearly, defendant’s trial counsel understood the importance of West’s testimony. He interviewed her, subpoenaed her and even tried to have her arrested. Defendant does not say what else he thinks should have been done and it is hard to imagine what other steps counsel could have taken. Defense counsel’s performance was not deficient.

Nonetheless, assuming defendant’s trial counsel was deficient in his efforts to procure West’s testimony at trial—a rather far-fetched assumption—defendant still was not prejudiced given that the substance of her testimony was presented to the jury. Indeed, presenting her testimony by stipulation was better for defendant because if she had testified in person, her comment to the State’s investigator—that she did not believe the night she

picked him up was the night of the burglary/assault—would surely have come out. R. 350:6-

7. In sum, defendant suffered no prejudice from the lack of live testimony from West.⁴

C. Defendant’s Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective For Not Attempting to Exclude an Investigator’s Summary of West’s Testimony or Anderson’s Testimony Concerning His Drug Debt to Defendant.

Defendant claims his trial counsel was ineffective for not attempting to exclude alleged hearsay testimony from a State investigator concerning the interview with West. Amd. Aplt. Br. at 19. He also claims that counsel should have attempted to exclude testimony by Anderson that defendant shot him because Anderson owed defendant \$30 for drugs. *Id.* These claims are without merit.

Before the trial began, Sgt. Kevin Judd, an investigator for the Salt Lake County District Attorney’s Office, testified about his efforts to contact West, the alleged alibi witness. R. 350:19, 21. Judd stated that he had contacted West on December 22, 2003, and that she said she did not want to testify because she was not with defendant the night the crimes occurred. R. 350:20. He also stated that West had called him the night before trial began. R. 350:24. She told him she was in Florida and would not be back in time to testify. *Id.* She also said “she was not with Calvin Moore on that night, she will not come in and lie for Calvin Moore, she told Kevin Kurumada [defendant’s trial counsel] or whoever the

⁴Defendant also claims that counsel was deficient for not investigating and identifying the two men who the victims said accompanied defendant during the commission of the burglary and assault. Amd. Aplt. Br. at 20. However, these men were never identified by their real names and defendant provides nothing to suggest it was even possible to identify or locate them.

attorney was four months ago that she would not testify and lie for Calvin Moore.” R. 350:25.

Defendant claims this testimony is hearsay and should have been excluded. Amd. Aplt. Br. at 19. But defendant neglects to mention that this testimony was held outside the presence of the jury. Thus, trial counsel was not ineffective for not attempting to exclude Judd’s testimony because it was never admitted at trial.

Defendant also claims that Anderson’s testimony concerning his \$30 drug debt was prejudicial and should not have been admitted under rules 402 and 403, Utah Rules of Evidence. Amd. Aplt. Br. at 19. Defendant is at least partly correct. The evidence is prejudicial as almost all relevant evidence is, but it is not unfairly prejudicial, which is what the rules of evidence prohibit. *See* Utah R. Evid. 403 (“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury . . .”). Moreover, the evidence was clearly relevant because it provided a context for Anderson’s relationship with defendant as well as a motive for the assault. Thus, any attempt to exclude this evidence would have been futile and counsel cannot be ineffective for not making futile objections. *See State v. Kelley*, 2000 UT 41, ¶26, 1 P.3d 546 (“[F]ailure to raise futile objections does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel”).

D. Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective For Allegedly Not Properly Investigating and Exposing the Biases of Defendant’s Victims.

Defendant claims that his trial attorney should have investigated and “expose[d] the biases” of Marcus Anderson and Antoinette Jones. Amd. Aplt. Br. at 19. However,

defendant never states how these witnesses are biased or what more defense counsel should have done to discover their alleged biases. Defendant alludes cryptically to “their prior associations with Mr. Moore,” *id.*, but it is unclear how their acquaintance with defendant created bias. In fact, the opposite is true. Anderson testified that defendant was one of his drug dealers, that the two sometimes took drugs together and that defendant often “fronted” him drugs on credit. R. 350:162-63. Anderson stated that before defendant shot him, their relationship had been untroubled. R.350:161. Jones said she was friendly with defendant and that he was generally welcome in her home, although she acknowledged that she had occasionally asked defendant to leave. R. 350:97-98.

Because defendant has not identified what biases his trial counsel should have discovered, he has not demonstrated deficient performance or prejudice and his claim fails. *See Classon*, 935 P.2d at 532 (defendant must identify counsel’s specific acts or omissions that “fall outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance”); *Penman*, 964 P.2d at 1162 (“[P]roof of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be a speculative matter but must be a demonstrable reality”) (citation omitted) (brackets in original).

E. Defendant’s Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective In Not Withdrawing From the Case Earlier.

Despite this Court’s order striking extra-record material from his brief, *see* Addendum D, defendant once again refers to the same extra-record material, albeit cryptically, in his amended brief. On page 13 of his amended brief, defendant claims in an argument heading that “Defense counsel was ineffective in not responding appropriately to Mr. Moore’s requests for a substitution of counsel and for not notifying the Court.” This is the same

heading defendant used at the beginning of Point II of his unredacted brief. *See* Aptl.’s Opening Brief at 14. Although defendant does not repeat the argument itself and notes that he is declining to do so “[i]n deference to this Court’s Order striking extra-record information from Appellant’s opening brief,” the heading, too, is inappropriate because it refers to information outside the record. In the interest of expediency and moving the case along, the State will not renew its motion to strike. However, this reference to the extra-judicial material should be disregarded.

Moreover, the actual record does not support the claim that defendant’s trial counsel should have withdrawn earlier. The record below contains only a single unequivocal indication that defendant became displeased with his attorney, and this did not occur until after his conviction. During sentencing, defendant had a terse exchange with the trial judge, who told defendant that his trial counsel “did a fine job in your defense—” Defendant cut him off and retorted: “Bullshit.” R. 352:9. Defendant went on to say that his counsel “didn’t do his job. That’s what I’m telling you.” R. 352:9-10. Following this outburst, trial counsel immediately filed a motion to withdraw, which was granted. R. 316-18. Thus, it is hard to see what defendant has to complain about. As soon as he voiced his dissatisfaction with his attorney, trial counsel withdrew and substitute counsel was appointed. R. 319.

The only earlier indication in the record that defendant wanted a different attorney was a letter he submitted to the court captioned “Plea for Withdraw[al] of Counsel and Evidentiary Hearing.” R. 233-34. The letter, however, does not state that defendant was dissatisfied with his trial counsel, much less offer reasons for his alleged dissatisfaction.

Rather, the entire letter concerns defendant's contention that the State should not be allowed to present a medical report because the State "must have had access to this report" some time before the State first made the report available to defendant. R. 233. The letter says nothing to suggest a "conflict of interest, a complete breakdown in communication or an irreconcilable conflict which [led] to an unjust verdict." *State v. Lovell*, 1999 UT 40, ¶ 31m 947 P.2d 382, *cert. denied*, 528 U.S. 1083 (2000). Thus, defendant has not demonstrated that his attorney had any reason to withdraw from the case any earlier than he did. Accordingly, defendant's trial counsel was not ineffective for not withdrawing sooner.

Nor has defendant shown prejudice. Even assuming that defendant's counsel had some obligation to withdraw sooner, defendant has not identified errors that are reasonably probable to have altered the outcome of the trial. *See* sections I.A. through I.D, above. Thus, defendant's ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails.

II. THE TRIAL COURT TIMELY APPOINTED SUBSTITUTE COUNSEL AND DID NOT ERR IN NOT *SUA SPONTE* EXTENDING THE TIME TO FILE A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.⁵

Defendant alleges that his due process rights were violated when the trial court "failed to timely appoint substitute counsel" and did not *sua sponte* grant additional time for defendant to file a motion for a new trial. Amd. Aplt. Br. at 10-18. Both claims are meritless.

⁵ This section responds to points I and III of appellant's amended brief.

As argued in section I.E, above, the trial court granted defendant's request for a new attorney within days after defendant made his displeasure known and counsel moved to withdraw. Defendant does not explain why or how the trial court should have or could have intuited his alleged desire for new counsel at any earlier date. Accordingly, this claim fails.

Defendant also claims that the trial court should have *sua sponte* granted additional time to file a motion for a new trial because his trial counsel withdrew and substitute counsel was not appointed until after the 10-day period following sentencing for filing a new trial motion. Amd. Aplt. Br. at 11. After sentencing, a defendant has 10 days to file a motion for a new trial "or within such further time as the court may fix during the ten-day period." Utah R. Crim. P. 24(c).

As discussed above, defendant told the trial court during his sentencing hearing that he was dissatisfied with his trial counsel's representation. R. 352:9-10. Following this outburst, trial counsel immediately filed a motion to withdraw, which was granted. R. 316-18. In the motion, trial counsel stated: "The defendant desires to file a motion for a new trial, based on ineffective assistance of counsel." R. 316 (Motion to Withdraw, dated January 3, 2005). The trial court granted the motion to withdraw on January 6, 2005, which, according to defendant, was the last day for filing a motion for a new trial. Amd. Aplt. Br. at 11. According to defendant, these circumstances created a "unique glitch" which caused the matter to "[a]ll through the proverbial cracks" because trial counsel could not file a motion for a new trial raising his own ineffectiveness and substitute counsel was not appointed in time to file the motion. *Id.* at 10-11. Thus, according to defendant, the trial court should

have *sua sponte* extended the time and its failure to do so effectively precluded defendant from filing a motion for a new trial. *Id.* at 12.

In fact, the circumstances are not quite as Kafkaesque as defendant claims. The deadline for filing a motion for a new trial was not, as defendant asserts, January 6, 2005. Because the period for filing a new trial motion is less than 11 days, intermediate Saturdays, Sundays and holidays are excluded, which means the actual deadline was January 10. Thus, defendant did have a short window between the 6th and 10th of January when he or substitute counsel could have filed either a timely motion for a new trial or a motion to extend the time. Absent an actual motion for a new trial, and given that defendant had time after the court granted the motion to withdraw to file the motion, the trial court did not err in not *sue sponte* extending the deadline.

But even assuming *arguendo* that “a more prudent action”⁶ would have been for the trial court to both grant the motion to withdraw and, at the same time, allow additional time to file the motion for a new trial, defendant’s claim still fails because any error was harmless. *See State v. Wood*, 393 P.2d 381 (Utah 1964) (defendant bears burden to show prejudice when claiming separation of jurors during deliberation required new trial); *see also* Utah R. Crim. P. 24(a) (“The court may, upon motion of a party or upon its own initiative, grant a new trial in the interest of justice if there is any error or impropriety which had a *substantial adverse effect* upon the rights of a party”) (emphasis added); *State v. Boyd*, 2001 UT 30, ¶27,

⁶ Amd. Aplt. Br. at 12.

25 P.3d 985 (trial court has “broad discretion” to grant or deny timely motion for a new trial). Defendant claims a new trial motion would have been granted based on the ineffectiveness of his trial counsel. *See* Amd. Aplt. Br. at 13. But, as demonstrated in section I, above, defendant has not met and cannot meet his burden to demonstrate his counsel’s performance was constitutionally deficient under *Strickland*. Because defendant cannot demonstrate his counsel was deficient, a motion for new trial based a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel would necessarily have been denied. Thus, even if it would have been more “prudent” for the trial court to extend the deadline, defendant suffered no prejudice and his claim must fail.

III. JURY INSTRUCTIONS WERE PROPER; DEFENDANT COMITTED BOTH AGGRAVATED BURGLARY AND AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.⁷

Defendant claims he was improperly convicted of aggravated burglary and aggravated assault because the assault was a lesser-included offense and should have merged into the burglary charge. Amd. Aplt. Br. at 20-21. Defendant is incorrect.

A. Defendant Agreed to the Jury Instructions He Now Challenges; Thus, Error, If Any, Was Invited and Cannot Be Challenged On Appeal.

Because defendant approved the instructions on the elements of aggravated burglary and aggravated assault, he cannot challenge them on appeal. “[A] party cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing

⁷ This section responds to point V of Appellant’s Brief.

the error.” *State v. Anderson*, 929 P.2d 1107, 1109 (Utah 1996) (internal quotation and citation omitted). “Accordingly, a jury instruction may not be assigned as error even if such instruction constitutes manifest injustice ‘if counsel, either by statement or act, affirmatively represented to the court that he or she had no objection to the jury instruction.’” *State v. Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16, ¶ 9, 86 P.3d 742 (quoting *State v. Hamilton*, 2003 UT 22, ¶ 54, 70 P.3d 111).

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